


LOCATION

Furnas County is located in far south central
Nebraska. The county is bounded on the west by Red
Willow County; on the north by Gosper County,
Phelps County and Frontier County; on the east by
Harlan County and on the south by Norton County in
Kansas. The county has six highways located in and
crossing the county including US Highways 34, 283
and 136, Nebraska Highways 47, 89 and 46. The
county is home to the communities of Arapahoe,
Beaver City (County seat), Cambridge, Edison,
Hendley, Holbrook, Oxford, and Wilsonville.

HISTORYOF FURNASCOUNTY

The following information is a mixture of the
community histories found at http://
www.furnascounty.ne.gov/index_html?
page=content/history.html and

The pride and enthusiasm that early settlers placed in
locating the seat of local government was possibly
nowhere more evident than in Furnas County. Events
there showed just how strong the emotions could
become.

When Robert W. Furnas became governor in 1873,
the Legislature adopted an act to organize an area
along the Kansas border and name this latest county
in his honor. The influx of settlers that had preceded
the Legislature's action had already resulted in the
settlements of Arapahoe and Beaver City being
established. So when the county's first organization
election was held on April 8, 1873, ballots were cast
at both sites.

Election results from Arapahoe were filed with the
Secretary of State's office within the appointed time
limit. The returns from Beaver City, however, were
delayed en route to Lincoln because of a heavy
snowstorm. As a result, Beaver City's ballots did not
arrive until after the day on which the ballots were
counted. The Secretary of State issued certificates of
election of officials in Arapahoe and ruled that
settlement to be the county seat. What followed was

a series of court orders and bitter political fights
between the settlers in the north and south parts of
the county.

A court quickly ordered the Secretary of State to
canvass the Beaver City votes and issue certificates
of election to the candidates who received the
highest vote from the combined
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returns of Arapahoe and Beaver City, and to
designate as the county seat the site that received
the greatest vote.

A second election was held the following October.
This time, Beaver City was declared the victor.
Inhabitants of Arapahoe continued to claim victory
based on the April election. It took three years of
legal challenges before the Supreme Court ruled that
Beaver City was indeed the county seat. Continued
dissention delayed the building of a courthouse until
1888.

The first courthouse stood for 60 years before being
declared unsafe for occupancy in 1948. The
courthouse was dismantled the following year and

after the county offices were housed in various
downtown buildings for two vyears, the current
courthouse was dedicated on May 4, 1951.

Arapahoe

Arapahoe, population 1,140, is known as "the town
where the hi -ways meet." Located in south central
Nebraska, it is at the intersection of Highways 6 -34
and Highway 283.

The Arapahoe Indians were honored when their tribal
name was given to the first town in Furnas (formerly
James) County. The town site was surveyed in 1871
on a tract of land between Elk and Muddy Creeks in
the beautiful and productive Republican River Valley.
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George Love was named postmaster in the spring of
1872.

The town was laid out with a park at its center for
activities such as band concerts, Chautauquas and
picnics. A swimming pool and solarium were built with
WPA (Works Progress Administration) labor during the
depression in the 1930's. The tree -shaded park is still
the center of activities with swimming, picnics and an
occasional band concert enjoyed by many in the
good old summertime.

Julia Love was the first teacher in a log structure with
crude backless benches. Other buildings later housed

the educational facility, with the present brick
structures, manicured lawn, and new hard -surfaced
track a beehive of activity during the school year.

In 1879 the newspaper "Arapahoe Pioneer" was
established, and from 1895 to 1911, two papers were
published weekly. One of them, "The Arapahoe
Public Mirror," has continued and now has absorbed
the newspapers of neighboring Edison and Holbrook.

An early -day fight with Beaver City for the county
seat was settled by vote. (Some people suspected
arson in a fire north of Arapahoe that kept many
voters from the polls.) A more recent try was made to
move the courthouse to the middle of Furnas County,
locating it across the road from the Mid -County Golf
course south of Arapahoe, but did not receive the
necessary votes.

The town has seen many changes. The early
transportation required livery stables (one aptly
named "Hotel d' Hoss") and hotels where hearty
meals were served to weary travelers. The arrival of
the railroad made traveling much easier, with trains
also used for shipping cream, eggs, and produce.
Livestock was also moved to market with much less
effort. The arrival of the "Tin Lizzie" required
improvements of city streets, country roads, and the
DLD (Detroit, Lincoln & Denver) Highway through
Arapahoe, as well as need for gas stations and
garages for repairs.

Finch's Store, a three -story brick structure on Nebraska
Avenue, now houses the Furnas County Museum
where one can view beautiful dishes, old furniture,
tools, and clothing of yesteryear. During the 1971
Arapahoe centennial, a miniature log cabin was built
just south of the museum, and words were put to
music for Arapahoe's very own centennial song.

The Joseph Einstein Building (the second story having
been the opera house) has been remodeled as a
meeting place for "Arapahoe Senior Citizens, Inc."

In time of war, many young men of the area served
their country in the armed forces, proud to defend
their homeland. A grotto visited by many travelers,
the "Shrine of Our Lady of Fatima" at St. Germanus
Catholic Church, was built by Father Denis, who was
a prisoner in a German concentration camp during
World War Il and later the pastor at Arapahoe.

The livelihood of most area residents is related to
agriculture so the community has naturally suffered
because of the poor economy. But, as in the past --
during the grasshopper plagues, drought of the
1930's, the flood of 1935 when the Republican River
stretched from the foot of the bluffs to the railroad
track -- the residents, both rural and urban, pull
together to help each other out.

Arapahoe is very much alive and boasts a modern
medical clinic, new public library, a low -cost housing
project, a nursing home, and over 60 separate
business places with friendly merchants.

"Arapahoe Heritage Days," an annual two or three -
day celebration over July 4th, welcomes one and all

to ball games, swimming, races, quilt show, dances,

an ice cream social, a big parade, and fireworks to
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celebrate our long and varied heritage.
Source: http:/iwww.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/
arapahoe/

Beaver City

Beaver City, county seat for Furnas County, is located
on Beaver Creek not far from the Kansas border. This
site was noted in the spring of 1872 by J.H. McKee
and Struve as a "favorable point." However, they
continued to scout the area for several months,
returning to this site in October to plat the town.
McKee was promptly joined by his business partner
Robert Denham, who helped build the first store. By
November 1 it was stocked with goods and opened
for business. This building, also used as a post office,
was where the first Furnas county court convened.

Other families soon joined the settlement; the
Hadleys, Williams, Danforths, and Nicholsons. As more
people arrived, Beaver City developed and grew.
Furnas County's population also increased and soon
there was a second village established several miles
north.

A post office was requested soon after the town was
platted, but there was no mail delivered until 1873. In
the meantime, the mail was brought to town from
Alma (25 miles away) each Sunday by one of the
settlers. Later a carrier was hired and paid by
subscription until the government route was
established. C.A. Danforth was the first postmaster.

When the county organized in late 1873, Beaver City
was one of the voting places designated by
Governor Robert Furnas, for whom the county was
named. Competing with Arapahoe for location of
the county seat, Beaver City was chosen for the
honor by the people. This is where it has remained.
There have been three courthouses, the latest built in
1949.

The first sermon was preached in July 1873 by Dr. G.A.
Hobson in the old "Valley Hotel." The first Sunday
School was also established that year. The
Presbyterians organized in 1874 and built their church
in 1880. The Methodist Episcopal congregation was
organized in 1875 and built their church in 1885.
Thomas and Anna Williams were very instrumental in
organizing both churches and the Sunday school in
Beaver City.

In 1873-74 a grist mill was built west of town on Beaver
Creek by David Lashley and Joseph Monell. Lashley
became the sole owner, and the mill served the

surrounding area for many years. Historically this site is

Introduction

important because George W.Norris, then a young
lawyer, first conceived the idea of water power
being converted into electricity for the use by rural
Americans everywhere while chatting with Mr.
Lashley as they stood near the mill race. Norris, who
later married Pluma Lashley, was urged by his father -
in-law to work to make this idea come about. Norris,
who served in the U.S. House of Representatives for
ten years (1903 -13) and in the Senate for 30 years
(1913-43), was instrumental in writing the bills that
created the Tennessee Valley Authority (T.V.A.) in
1933 and the Rural Electrification Administration
(R.E.A) in 1935. Norris also helped author the
constitutional amendment that established a
unicameral (one house) legislature in Nebraska in
1935. The Norris' lived in the large Lashley home,
which still stands in the city, and the senator
maintained a Beaver City law office for many years.

In later years he moved to McCook, where he lived
out his life.

Our town has recorded some unique "firsts" in the field
of medicine and aviation. Beaver City was the home

of Dr. Frank Brewster, Nebraska's first flying doctor.
Brewster bought a Curtis -Wright JN4D biplane in 1919.
Purchased for $8,000, it arrived in Beaver City by rail in
two large boxes. The plane was assembled and
made its first flight on May 19, 1919, when 8,000
people gathered to see Wade Stevens, a young
World War | veteran, take to the air for its test flight.
"Doc" Brewster flew many missions of mercy
throughout southwestern Nebraska and northwestern
Kansas. His airplane was a familiar and comforting
sight to farmers and ranchers of this area for many
years.

Currently Beaver City is the home of Nebraska's first
veterinarian to use a helicopter in his practice. Dr.
Arthur Becker established a veterinary practice here

in 1962, then built a unique, rounded Beaver Valley
Animal Hospital in 1965 (the first of its kind). His
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helicopter gives him great mobility and allows him to
make calls quickly and efficiently.

Down town businesses in Beaver City front on a
picturesque town square with its Civil War monument

and park benches under tall shade trees. The
population that was as high as 1,100 in the 1920s is

currently 775.
Source: http://lwww.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/
beavercity/

Cambridge

Cambridge, in northwestern Furnas County, is on the
gentle slope between the Republican River and
Medicine Creek. Hiram Doing came in 1871, built a
cabin, and named the place "Northwood." In 1874 a
post office named "Medicine Creek" was established.
Two years later Doing sold his claim to J.W.Pickle who
laid out the town that people called "Pickletown." A
dam on Medicine Creek and a sawmill with a corn
burr for grinding grain were built. The mill served the
area for many years, with improvements that
included a four -story building on a solid stone
foundation and modern equipment for improved
flour-making. The mill was torn down in 1950 after
being severely damaged by flood waters.

The Burlington Railroad reached the town in 1880. At
that time the name was changed to "Cambridge."
The station agent, W.H. Faling, also established "The
Regulator," a large general store.

Cambridge was incorporated in 1885 with a
population of over 200. The town's park on Medicine
Creek was a gathering place for baseball games,
G.A.R. reunions, Fourth of July, Chautauquas, and
campers. While it has been damaged by floods, it
has always been returned to its original beauty.
Facilities include a new swimming pool in 1986 (to
replace the one built in 1933), a golf course, archery,
tennis, picnic area, one -room schoolhouse museum,
horse arena, flower garden, and children's
playground. The Cambridge Chamber of Commerce
that started in 1888 as "the Board of Trade" now
sponsors "Medicine Creek Days" each June. Activities
include a barbecue, parade and outhouse races,
and draws big crowds.

In 1874 a log schoolhouse was built with a dirt floor
and branches for the roof. In 1878 a sod school was
built and later a frame building, with the first brick
structure completed in 1888. The present set of
buildings serves over 400 students with an excellent
course of educational opportunities as well as classes

in adult education. Cambridge is proud of its high
school athletic achievements. Starting with baseball,
football was added in 1901. The football team won
the state championship in 1920. It was later ruled that
Clinton John was "ineligible to coach" since he had
no degree and was not paid a salary. The football
field was named in his honor in 1961.

The community established a number of churches in

it ;: o Rt 4
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the 1880s. Five presently serve the town: Catholic,
Calvary Baptist, United Methodist, Lutheran, and
Congregational UCC.

When Cambridge enjoyed its first boom in 1884, the
newspaper, "The Monitor," was founded. Through
several changes in ownership the name changed first

to "Kaleidoscope," then to "The Cambridge Clarion”
the name by which it is currently known. It serves as
an important source of communications and history

and is especially noted for its sports coverage.

Cambridge has had two disastrous floods. The
Republican River flood of 1935 that took many lives
and left much destruction, and a flash flood that
roared down Medicine Creek in 1947. This quiet little
stream, swelled by weeks of rain, took 13 lives and
destroyed or damaged many homes and businesses.
A dam authorized several years previously was then
funded, with the project completed in 1949. The
reservoir, named Harry Strunk Lake, irrigates 18,000
acres and provides a recreation area for water
sports, fishing, and hunting.

Cambridge's Memorial Hospital, Cambridge Manor,
and a Heritage Plaza make this the center for
medical services. The growth of these facilities have
been made possible by the presence of the medical
staff and others dedicated to taking care of people.

The Butler Memorial Library, honoring "Pap" Butler, has
a collection of over 13,000 books and periodicals. A
museum started in 1938 has a large collection of
Great Plains relics, birds, fossils, Indian artifacts, and
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many local historical items.

The economic climate in Cambridge, with over 70
businesses, is healthy and ever -changing.
principal occupations are stock raising and farming.
The town depends on the rural community, and
shares in its financial ups and downs.

The

Cambridge has maintained a population of over
1,000 since the early 1930s. The 1980 census shows
1,206 residents. As it has been from early on, people
are the most important factor in the community. We
look back and try to imagine how early pioneers
survived the Indian scares, sickness, drought, prairie
fires, and floods. We look forward to the 21st Century

in the hopes of leaving a legacy for the future

generations who will call Cambridge "home."
Source: http://lwww.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/
cambridge/

Edison

Thomas Edison may have been a very famous man
and invented many things, but he is not the person
for whom the town of Edison, Nebraska, is named.

Edison, in the eastern part of Furnas County, was
named for the son of R.H. Rohr, one of the owners of
the first store at that location. Rohr and Charles
Draper established a general merchandising
business. When Rohr was named postmaster, he
needed to supply the name that was to be used. He
chose to call it "Edison," for his son "Eddy."

The first white baby born in Furnas County was Rene
Rohr White in Edison. Some names of early settlers in
addition to Rohr, Draper, and White, include Osborn,
Parmeder, Jones, Bard, and Shafer.

This settlement just kind of "happened" as western
expansion pushed into Furnas County. The railroad
also came through, but this was not what you would
call a railroad town.

Edison was just a frontier town, with all businesses
designed to attract travelers and newly -arriving
settlers. Described as "a thriving town," it had an
opera house, two hotels, a blacksmith, hardware
store, and three churches.

Of the original churches, only the Christian Church,
organized by Brother William Winters in 1889 has
survived. The first pastor was John Stewart Miller. In
recent years a new denomination called Holiness
Church was organized.

Introduction

In earlier times, many Indians passed through the
area on their annual migration from their winter to
summer hunting grounds. Some times they would set
up their teepees in an encampment near the town
and stay for a considerable time. They used the
healing mud and water of Turkey Creek to care for
wounded warriors.

After one battle, one Indian squaw found her way to
the Osborn home, where she just sat by the stove.
Later more Indians also came, causing some concern
as to their intent. Finally one of the Osborn children
put a bullet in the stove, which of course exploded.
The Indians ran from the house and never came
back.

The smallest schoolhouse in Nebraska was located
south of Edison. It measures only 14 -feet by 16 -feet.
Known as District 10, it was built in 1896 and closed in
1935. The building was moved into Edison and
restored so it can be enjoyed by citizens and tourists.

The town was officially incorporated on January 3,
1907. Edison's peak population of 334 was recorded
in 1910. The present count is near the 200 mark.

AL S LAl aN T

A REPAS groe

Edison's Farmers & Merchant's Bank opened in 1926. It
weathered the Depression and hard times. Last year
it purchased the Arapahoe Bank.

Every town located on the Republican River has
horror stories to relate about the terrible flood of 1935.
Since Edison was down stream, there had been some
warnings, but people ignored them. They didn't
believe that the water could get as high as it did. No
one in Edison lost their lives, but the streets were
under a foot or more of water.

In 1955 the Edison Co -op elevator was established. It
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has now merged with Beaver City, Oxford, Holbrook,
Elwood, and Hendley to form a larger co -op.

Most of the original businesses that were established
when Edison was young are now gone. Some of
them were no longer needed, like the blacksmithing
and livery stable, while others burned down or just
closed.

Edison has an active volunteer fire department. The
electrical system operated by the village is supplied
by NPPD. The natural gas system is supplied through
Kansas-Nebraska Gas Company. The town is still "on
the line" of the railroad through the area, operated
by Burlington -Northern.

Edison had a homestead centennial in 1972, and
celebrates "Market Days" on the second Saturday in
September every year. This event brings a lot of
people to town. Consider this your invitation to stop

by.
Source: http://lwww.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/edison/

Hendley

There were herds of buffalo, antelope, deer, elk, and
wild turkey roaming the country in 1872 when LW.
Meyers located a short distance west of what is now
the town of Hendley. Soon other settlers took up
homesteads. Meyers was appointed postmaster of
the settlement that he named "Lynden." The little
town took root as more people built homes and set
up businesses.

When the railroad came through the area in 1887,
the station was named "Hendley" for the railroad
conductor who wanted a town to be named for him.
Although local sentiment was for it to remain Lynden,
the railroad had its way, and soon the old name was
all but forgotten. By this time the town had eight
stores, livery barn, grain and stock market, hotel, two
banks, and a drug store. Dr. John Wesley Thompson,
who located in the community in 1888, recalled that
at that time buffalo grass covered the plains and
there were no well -made roads to be found.

The "Hendley Hustler" newspaper reported..."the town
is situated on the Pueblo branch of the B&MR
Railroad, in the Beaver Valley believed to be the
richest and best valley in the state of Nebraska..."
After listing the many names and businesses
available, the editor added, "...the hardware block
includes two store rooms and a capacious hall. The
Leach building also contains a good hall where
preaching was instituted immediately..." Several

churches were organized, with the Methodist Church
still active in the community.

The village of Hendley incorporated in 1906. By then it
had a full array of businesses, among them the
D.M.Perkins General Merchandise Store.

A story of the "American dream come true" is found in
Hendley. The Perkins family came to Furnas County in
1893. They survived the drought and hard -times that
hit the area then by working many hours at tending
crops and a big garden. Mrs.Perkins and the children
drove their buggy ten miles to Beaver City every
Sunday, selling butter and eggs to cash customers. In
1900 the family traded their farm for a store in
Hendley so the children would have better schooling.

Young Edwin Perkins began his entrepreneurial

career at age 11 after reading an ad which said, "Be

a manufacturer. Mixer's Guide tells how. Write today."
Soon he was concocting perfumes, flavorings, and
medicines in the family kitchen. Another ad, "Start a
print shop in your home -- Make money" added to
the production of his products and expanded to
include calling cards, sold through magazine ads
and student agents. His Nix -O-Tine Tobacco Remedy
launched a successful mail order business for Perkins
Products. It was here that Perkins developed "Fruit
Smack," a liquid fruit drink concentrate that led to the
development of "Kool Aid." Perkins and his wife, Kitty,
moved to Hastings where he continued to expand his
business to include products which were sold under
the "Onor Maid" label. In 1931 the business was so
large that the family moved to Chicago where
Perkins served as its president until 1956, when he sold
the company to General Foods.

The village of Hendley is very small, with an assessed
valuation of under $260,000. It is served by the
Nebraska Public Power District. While services to the
community were slow in coming, they are current
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with most communities at this time.

The population is currently 45, when everybody is
home, so Hendley is one of the smaller incorporated
towns in Nebraska.

In his 1894 history of Hendley, Calvin Resler
concluded, "...now fellow citizens, show us a town of
more enterprise and less loafers won't you? But when
you look for the latter, put on your glasses, for they
are as scarce as toads in England. And may we close
by saying that Hendley has a park as good as the
best and her morals are as good as any town in the

west."
Source: http:/iwww.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/
Hendley/

Holbrook

In the year 1862 Isaac Burton, upon leaving Fort
McPherson where he had been a saddler for the
cavalry, was on an exploration trip. He was impressed
with the area where Deer Creek joins a bend of the
Republican River and vowed to return one day and
settle there. He returned eight years later in 1870.
Along with a partner named H. Dice, he opened a
trading post in a log cabin they built. They traded
primarily in dried buffalo meat, sugar, flour, hay and
corn, as well as guns and ammunition. This first
permanent settlement became known as "Burton's
Bend." A post office by that name was established in
August 1872.

Furnas County was organized and its boundaries
defined in February 1873. Apparently, the county
seat didn't interest Burton or Dice, so the voting was
between the neighboring towns of Arapahoe and
Beaver City, more nearly in the center of the new
county. Beaver City won.

The railroad came right through the area in the late
1870s. A village sprang up near the old trading post
and quickly grew into a town, with all the traffic of
the westward movement of settlers and hunting
expeditions. The town's name was changed to
"Holbrook" in 1881 in honor of a Chicago, Burlington,
& Quincy Railroad official.

Burton and Dice continued in business until 1883, by
which time the town was well established. Their
abandoned building stood in that quiet wooded
area for many years until the great Republican River
flood of 1935 swept it away.

By 1895 the local businesses numbered more than 20.
A fire on April 24, 1907, that started in the livery barn
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and spread rapidly throughout the town, wiped out
most of the business section of Holbrook. The loss was
estimated to be in excess of $10,000, which in those
days was a lot of money. Some merchants gave up
and left, but many stayed and rebuilt their businesses.

As with most Nebraska's rural communities, the town's
population fluctuated  -- some saying as high as 1,000
at one time. However, Perkey's Nebraska Places
Names lists a peak population at 488 in 1930.

Holbrook was adversely effected by the Depression,
drought, and the devastating Republican River flood
in 1935. The town suffered even more during the
1940s when economics and World War Il changed
the entire life style of America.

Holbrook was once known as the "City of Beautiful
EIms" but even that was not to endure when dutch
elm disease ravaged the thousands of magnificent
elm trees in Nebraska in the 1970s.

Our current population is recorded as 300 persons.
Like many small towns, Holbrook is fighting to hold on.
The town has survived many adversities and has hope

for the future.
Source: http:/www.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/
holbrook/

Oxford

The beginning of Oxford was on December 20, 1879,
when William Gillan was given his "final receivers
receipt" and handed abstract title No. 767 for certain
lands at the eastern edge of Furnas County. Nine
days later William and his wife Caroline deeded a
portion of this land to Jacob Struve for $200. Through
a legal pre -arrangement, Struve had granted the
Republican Valley Railroad Company (later to
become part of the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy) a
right of way over the land to construct their railroad.

Actually, railroad stakes had been driven on what

was to become the town site in October 1879, before
the title for the land had been cleared. The arrival of
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the first train as it crossed the Harlan County line into
Oxford was greeted with a large crowd of onlookers,
February 17, 1880. The main line still runs right through
the middle of town, but the trains do not stop to
leave -off mail or take on passengers.

It is believed that the first schoolhouse was a sod
structure northwest of the present school yard. School
was held in at least two other locations in Oxford
before a brick building was completed at the present
school site in 1887.

On June 10, 1880, the town site of Oxford was
dedicated "for public use" by Jacob Struve, Clara
Pease, and A.E. Tonzalin, trustees. There was,
however, no great rush to build as two years later it
was noted that there were only seven occupied
dwellings in the town.

There are several versions of how Oxford got its
name. Some claim it was a ford on the Republican
River where oxen could cross and thus "Ox
Others suggest it was probably named for Oxford
University in England, while another version is that the
railroad surveying crew named it for Oxford, Ohio.

In June 1884 a petition, signed by 23 citizens, was
presented to the commissioners of Furnas County.
With that action, the village of Oxford was formally
incorporated. The first graduating class from Oxford
High School walked across the stage in May 1894.

In 1906 the citizens of Oxford voted 92 to 32 in favor
of establishing a water system. An electric system was
installed in 1913 following a vote on the matter. A
new larger schoolhouse was built in 1921, with a
gymnasium and elementary school added later. The
first paving, an oil mat on main street, was added in
1938.

Oxford has six active churches, some with
organizations going back to the 1880s. Records
indicate that even prior to that time, meetings and
services were held in homes of early settlers. Our town
also has many active organizations and clubs.

The town has two city parks, a good ball diamond,
swimming pool, and a new library. The community
also supports a nine -hole golf course, racquetball
court, club house, and a theater.

Oxford's K-12 school is an accredited Class C district,
with about 260 students. Our town has a modern 20
bed hospital with two doctors and a doctor's
assistant. We also have a 59 -bed nursing home.
Primarily a farming community, with a current

-ford."

population of over 1,200, Oxford has had many
industries over the years. Recently the town lost two

of them when the Oxford Cheese Factory was
destroyed by fire in the spring of 1988, and the storm
door and window plant closed. The Mid -Nebraska
Retardation Center provides an educational facility

and sheltered workshop north of town, as well as
employment opportunities for people in the
community.

The town of Oxford has weathered six business fires,
plus grasshopper plagues, depressions, and dust
storms. The community suffered the loss of many lives
and material in the Flood of 1935, and had homes
and businesses destroyed in a tornado in 1916. The
community feels the effect of the recent farm
economic problems. We are fortunate to have an
active Chamber of Commerce and 52 business
houses with a good line of merchandise.

The people of Oxford have a very positive attitude,
and are looking forward to the future just as our
forefathers did when they started our village over 100

years ago.
Source: http://www.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/Oxford/

Wilsonville

In 1872 Civil War veteran Alonzo Plumb and his sister,
Louisa Jane from Wisconsin, staked separate claims
near the present village of Wilsonville. They petitioned

to locate a post office. In April 1873 Jane Plumb was
commissioned postmaster of "Wild Turkey,” so -named
because of the abundance of turkeys roaming
Beaver Creek Valley.

Later that year Pennsylvania -born Lorenzo Wilson
moved here from Virginia City, Nevada, and
established his homestead which included land
within present day Wilsonville. After building his
dugout, he began selling food, hardware, clothing,

and other necessities to settlers and travelers.
Increasing demands for supplies necessitated the
building of a larger frame structure that he stocked

9 Furnas County, Nebraska Comprehensive Development Plan 2016


http://www.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/oxford/image.php?image=3

with $5,000 worth of merchandise. The locals met and
proposed a new town name "..where merchant
Wilson was established,” and chose "Wilsonville." The
Wild Turkey post office was moved to the new town
and growth began.

WILSONVILLE

February, 1887 saw the first issue of the "Wilsonville
Review" that stated "...Wilsonville is a town of about
300 inhabitants...while last year there were but two or
three houses, at present there are 70 or 80 homes. We
are a booming town soon to have a railroad. We are
fast growing into prominence and will soon reach the
ranks of a city."

The first train arrived before year's end. Within two
years the "Review" listed nearly 60 businesses.

When its population peaked at 500 in the 1920s
Wilsonville boasted of being the largest livestock ralil

shipping point in Nebraska. There are still large cattle
operations today, but shipping is done primarily by

truck.

In 1892 the Beaver Valley Harvest Home & Exposition
Society began to “disseminate knowledge in
agriculture, horticulture, arts and science, and for
sociability." A park was laid out and a large exhibition
hall erected. Each September merchants promoted
a festival called "Harvest Home." Community residents
competed for prizes in categories from quilting to
livestock, with essays written by the high school
graduating class. In 1895 it was estimated that 2,500
to 3,000 people attended. The exhibition hall is gone
but in its place are rodeo grounds, a park, and ball
diamond. Since 1967 the Saddle Club has sponsored
an annual rodeo that brings in large crowds.

School was first held in the 1870s in a sod house. An
early settler told of a time when 105 pupils were
taught by one teacher! Wilsonville graduated seniors
from 1896 to 1981. At that time the school district
merged with Beaver Valley School in Lebanon, but
maintains a K -6 school.

Introduction

Rural mail delivery was established in 1903 and a
telephone system in 1905, with rural lines completed
the following years. The first automobile showed up in
1906, with cement sidewalks replacing boardwalks in
1908. Electricity began on a limited basis in 1916, with
full service available in town by 1920, but rural homes
waited until 1945 -50. A waterworks system was
completed in 1929, explaining the many fine
buildings lost to fire in earlier years.

Wilsonville enjoyed the support of the surrounding
rural areas. Precincts of Sherman, Lynden, Tyron, and
Rockton each had several one -room schools that
provided learning and social activities. Names like
Sunflower, Anderson, and Bradley, plus the Kansas
community of Devises, are often mentioned in news
items.

Six Christian denominations have been active within
the village of Wilsonville. In rural areas many groups
met in homes, schools, and small one  -room churches
over the years.

The Comprehensive Development Plan is a
vision presented in text, graphics and tables
representing the desires of the County and its
residents for the future.

Today Wilsonville is a quiet farming and retirement
community. The village population is 200, but it

supports a good selection of businesses and services.
Source: http://lwww.casde.unl.edu/history/counties/furnas/
Wilsonville/

THE COMPREHENSIVEDEVELOPMENTPLAN

The Furnas County Comprehensive Development
Plan is designed to promote orderly growth and
development for the county, as well as providing
policy guidelines to enable citizens and elected
officials to make informed decisions about the future
of the county.

The Comprehensive Development Plan will provide a
guideline for the location of future developments
and uses within the planning jurisdiction of Furnas
County. The Plan is intended to encourage a strong
economic base for the County so all goals can be
achieved.

The Comprehensive Development Plan is intended as
an information and management tool for County
leaders to use in their decision -making process when
considering future uses of land. The Plan is not a static
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document; it should evolve as changes in the land
use, population or local economy occur during the
planning period.

The Comprehensive Development Plan
records where Furnas County has been,
where it is now, and where it likely will be in
the future.

THE PLANNING PROCESS

The Comprehensive Development Plan begins with
the development of general goals and policies,

based upon current and future issues faced by the
County and its residents. These are intended to be
practical guidelines for addressing existing conditions
and guiding future growth.

Data are collected to provide a snapshot of the past
and present conditions within the county. Analysis of
data provides the basis for developing forecasts for
future land use demands, as well as future needs
regarding housing and facilities.

The Comprehensive Development Plan is a
blueprinté. designed to i
actions and policies in the areas of population, land
use, transportation, housing, economic development,
community facilities, and utilities. The Plan contains
recommendations that when implemented will be of
value to the County and its residents.

The Comprehensive Development Plan identifies the
tools, programs, and methods necessary to carry out
the recommendations. Nevertheless, the
implementation of the development policies is
dependent upon the adoption of the Plan by the
governing body, and the leadership exercised by the
present and future elected and appointed officials of
the County.

PLAN PREPARATION

The Plan was prepared under the direction of Furnas
County Planning Commission, with the assistance and

participation of the Furnas County Board of
Commissioners; County staff, the Plan Review
Committee and citizens of Furnas County. The time
period for achieving the goals, programs, and

developments identified in the Furnas County
Comprehensive Plan is 20 years. However, the County
should review the Plan annually and update the

document every 10 years (2025), or when an
unanticipated  opportunity arises. Completing

updates every ten years or so will allow the County to
incorporate ideas and developments not known at
the time of the present comprehensive planning
process.

The Plan is only one of several tools within the
toolbox that helps guide the community into the

future .

COMPREHENSIVEPLAN COMPONENTS

Nebraska State Statutes require the inclusion of
certain elements in a Comprehensive Plan. A
0Comprehensive Devel opment
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 23-114. 02, oshall
graphic and textual material and shall be designed

to accommodate anticipated long -range future
growth. 6 The Comprehensive
following chapters and sections:

Introduction Chapter

County Engagement Chapter

Population Statistics Chapter

Housing Chapter

Economics/Economic Development Chapter
iCéupty Fadlises @hapger and devel
Natural Resources/Environmental Chapter
Energy Chapter

Land Use Chapter

Transportation Chapter

Implementation Chapter

Zoning and Subdivision Regulations

op

—a —a _a _a_a_aSh_a_a_a_a_2
—

Planned growth will make Furnas County
more effective in serving residents, more
efficient in using resources, and able to meet
the standard of living and quality of life every

individual desires.

Analyzing past and existing demographic, housing,
economic and social trends permit the projection of
likely conditions in the future. Projections and
forecasts are useful tools in planning for the future;
however, these tools are not always accurate and
may change due to unforeseen factors. Also, past
trends may be skewed or the data may be
inaccurate, creating a distorted picture of past
conditions. Therefore, it is important for Furnas County
to closely monitor population, housing and economic
conditions that may impact the County. Through
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periodic monitoring, the County can adapt and
adjust to changes at the local level. Having the
ability to adapt to socio -economic change allows
the County to maintain an effective Plan for the
future, to enhance the quality of life, and to raise the
standard of living for all residents.

GOVERNMENTAND JURISDICTION

The Furnas County Board of Commissioners, which is a
board of elected officials, performs the governmental
functions for the County. Each incorporated
community in Furnas County also has elected officials
and officers overseeing how their community is
governed.

The planning and zoning jurisdiction of Furnas County,
pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 23 -114, includes all of
the unincorporated portions of the County, excluding

the established extraterritorial jurisdiction of each
incorporated city or village.

Furnas County, Nebraska Comprehensive Development Plan 2016
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PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Public participation can be critical to a successful

planning effort. Without public participation it is
difficult to have a clear understanding of how the

residents feel regarding the county. Solid public
participation includes the uses of multiple types of
community engagement techniques.

Solid public participation provides a solid foundation
to develop policies concepts. The following
paragraphs outline the different community
engagement techniques used during the Furnas
County project.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Community engagement in Furnas County was

intended to be a major component of the
project and the process included
approaches. However, based upon a lack of

participation during the MIndMixer component

and the lack of public participation during

recent Hazard Mitigation planning efforts and the

new courthouse construction, it was determined

additional input sessions prior to a draft
Comprehensive  Development Plan being
available would gain very little for the project.

Some key elements will include:

1 Education: Planning 101

1 Use of a steering committee

T MindMixer: a virtual town hall
forum

1 Public hearings

discussion

Steering Committee Meetings

With the assistance of Furnas County Planning
Commission, County Board of Commissioners
and county staff, a steering committee was
formed to provide regular input on all phases of
the planning project. This group also provided
the internal assistance the planning effort
needed to get more people involved in the
process.

The steering committee also acts as a sounding
board during the entire process; this allows all
pieces/Chapters of the plan to be reviewed
and commented on at regularly scheduled
meetings. The steering committee is one of the
more critical components of the process.

Furnas County, Nebraska Comprehensive Development Plan 2016

ﬂ he Furnas County Comprehensi

multiple

Community Engagement

Public Hearings

The Public Hearings are the final opportunity to
for the public and staff to comment on the
Comprehensive Plan prior to
plan.

GOALS AND POLIICES

Planning for the future land uses of the county is an
ongoing process of goal setting and problem solving
aimed at encouraging and enhancing a better
community with a better quality of life. Planning
focuses upon ways of solving existing problems within
the community, and providing a management tool
enabling Furnas County citizens to achieve their
vision for the future.

provides a broadly painte
t he commu
statements and
desired
guid

Visioning is
conditions, identifying problem areas, and bringing
about consensus on how to overcome existing
problems and manage change. By determining

a process of evaluating present

Furnas Countyds vision, t
it wants to be in the future, and then develop a
Oroadmapé gui ding
However, the plan cannot only be based upon this
ovisiondéd and oroad mapébd

Furnas County must also act or implement the
necessary

steps involved
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Community Engagement

Change is continuous, therefore Furnas County must
decide specific criteria to be used to judge and
manage change. Instead of reacting to
development pressures after the fact, the community
along with their strategic vision, can better reinforce
the desired changes, and discourage negative
impacts that may undermine the vision. A shared
vision allows Furnas County to focus its diverse
energies and minimize conflicts in the present, and in
the future.

A key component of a Comprehensive Plan is the
goals and policies. The issues and concerns of the
citizens are developed into a vision. The vision
statement can then be further delineated and
translated into action statements and/or policies,
used to guide, direct, and base decisions for future
growth, development and change within Furnas
County. Consensus on "what is good land use?" and
"how to manage change in order to provide the
greatest benefit to the community and its residents?"
is formed. Furnas Countyds
to address various issues, regarding the questions of
ohowé to plan for the

Goals are desires, necessities and issues to be
attained in the future. A goal should be established in

a manner that allows it to be accomplished. Goals
are the end -state of a desired outcome. Goals also
play a factor in the establishment of policies within a
community. In order to attain certain goals and/or
policies within city government, they may need to be
modified or changed from time to time.

Policies are measurable, definable steps that lead to
the eventual completion of the goal. They are
specific statements of principle or actions that imply
a direction that needs to be undertaken.

These policies will synthesize the information from the
goals, as well as the responses from the participants
of the various input processes. Policies play an
important role in the Comprehensive Development
Plan because they direct the different actions that
will need to be taken to meet the goals.

The goals and policies assure the Comprehensive
Development Plan accomplishes the desires of the
County. When followed, development proposals in

the county should be evaluated as to their b dified L2
relationship with goal s andnEengOiSf“%g'? toaf;iﬁi{egsrtgef Wf?'rﬁgrm@goals
and policiesd6 should be ref eadr%c@rs.tT%ere(?rg, g%aispeie(ri%tg ?|e§| e

ensure success and positive outcomes.

Future Land Use Map or any other part of the
Comprehensive Development Plan. Likewise, they
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should be current, in order to reflect the attitudes and
desires of the County and its residents.

It is important for counties to establish their goals and
policies in a manner allowing for both long -term and
short-term accomplishments. The short -term goals
and policies serve several functions:

1 Allow for immediate feedback and success,
which fuels the desire to achieve additional goals
and better policies.

1 Allow for the distribution of resources over time

thus assuring a balanced use of public
investment.

9 Establish certain policies that need to be followed
before the long -term goals can be

accomplished.

FURNASCOUNTY VISION AND THEPLAN

The Furnas County Comprehensive Development
Plan provides a broadly painted picture for the
communityds future. The vi
Udesdribify e desiR® lutufe | cOritlitiofst prévide t
guidance for land use decisions and other actions,

f utur epoth public and private that collectively will

determine the future of Furnas County.

The core promise embedded in the Furnas County
Plan 2016 is designed to maintain and enhance the
heath, safety and welfare of the community during
times of change, to promote our ideals and values as
changes occur, and to meet the needs of today
without sacrificing the ability of future generations to
meet their needs. The plan acknowledges the
importance of the connections between economic,
environmental, and social components of the
county. The plan is a combination of practicality and
vision, and provides guidelines for sustaining the rich
fabric of the Furnas County community.

FURNASCOUNTY PLAN GOALS AND POLICIES
The goals and policies for the Furnas County
Comprehensive Development Plan will be contained
throughout the following Chapters. Each Chapter
shall contain the pertinent goals and polices for the
Chapter.

Goals are intended as a long -range desire; however,
as the Plan is implemented and different things in the
world around Furnas County changes, then the goals
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